

The Imposter Phenomenon and Its Relationship Between Anxiety and Students

# Jade Wolfe

18433452

Supervisor: Dr. Matthew Hudson

B.A. (Hons) in Psychology National College of Ireland March 2021

# **Submission of Thesis and Dissertation**

# National College of Ireland Research Students Declaration Form (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Jade Wolfe

Student Number: X18433452

Degree for which thesis is submitted: BA(Hons) in Psychology

Title of Thesis: The Imposter Phenomenon and its Relationship With

**Anxiety and Students** 

Date: 15/03/2021

### Material submitted for award

- A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself.
- B. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.
- C. I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online open access repository NORMA.
- D. I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award.

# Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my family, my mother for taking the burden of all of my anxieties during the completion of this project and finding ways to help me through them, my father for willing to listen to and read over any piece of writing I have ever handed to him, and my brothers for their patience and consideration over the last three years.

I would also like to thank my supervisor Dr. Matthew Hudson for his patience and guidance over the duration of this project. Lastly, I would like to thank the participants of the study, without them I would still be contemplating hypotheses.

#### Abstract

The imposter phenomenon is defined as the belief that one's accomplishments were a result of either luck, the hard work of others or manipulating others. The main research aim of the current study is to investigate the relationship between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety within Irish students. The study also investigated the gender biases in these two issues and how gender moderates between them. A questionnaire was filled out by participants (n= 80), comprised of demographic questions, the Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale, and the Beck Anxiety Indicator. The results of the study showed that females are more likely than males to score highly in both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety, respectively. The results also found that there is a significant positive correlation between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety. Lastly, the results showed that males were more likely than females to experience a correlation between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety. The results of the current study indicate the importance of education on both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety in tandem with each other within Irish colleges.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	1
The Current Study	5
Methods	8
Participants	8
Design	8
Measures	9
Demographics	9
The Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale	9
Beck Anxiety Inventory	9
Procedure1	0
Results1	2
Descriptive Statistics1	2
Inferential Statistics	2
Discussion1	4
Limitations and Strengths	6
Implications1	7
Conclusion1	8
References2	0
Appendices2	.5

### Introduction

Clance & Imes (1978), first identified an imposter phenomenon in their study of successful female college students and professionals. This imposter phenomenon can also otherwise be identified as imposterism (Legassie et al., 2008), the imposter syndrome, and is also known as perceived fraudulence (Kolligian & Sternberg, 1991). The imposter phenomenon can be described as the belief that one's accomplishments were a result of either pure luck, the hard work of others, or the manipulation of other's impressions of your success, rather than directly resulting from one's ability to complete accomplishments (Langford & Clance, 1993). Clance (1985) also explains that the participants who are presenting with the imposter phenomenon tend to worry that their peers will discover their fraudulence and that they will be "found out", these "imposters" also show that as they achieve more success, the more they feel like "fakes". From previous studies, participants with high levels of the imposter phenomenon have pointed out that they have the ability to understand how their accomplishments are seen from other people's perspectives, however this awareness does not affect their own internal ideas of fraudulence and the thought process pertaining to the fact that they believe they do not deserve their successes and accolades (Clance, 1985; Sakulku & Alexander, 2011). There are a number of clinical symptoms that individuals who express the imposter phenomenon tend to experience. These frequently reported symptoms include; generalized anxiety, depressive feelings, a lacking in selfconfidence, and frustration in relation to not being able to meet self-imposed standards (Clance & Irnes, 1978). Those suffering from the imposter phenomenon have also described experiencing feelings of second guessing, perfectionism, and feeling a hesitation regarding sharing their opinions or standing up for themselves (Clark et al., 2014).

The Imposter Phenomenon and the effect it has on students has been studied in depth (Kolligan & Sternberg, 1991; Chapman, 2015; Cozzarelli & Major, 1990), however the

majority of these studies were completed in America. Cozzarelli & Major (1990) found that students who scored higher on an imposter phenomenon test, were less confident in their knowledge and more anxious than the "non-imposters" who scored lower on the imposter phenomenon test, when faced with an exam situation, despite the "imposters" concerns not being concurrent with their test results. Specific student populations that have been subject to a number of studies on the imposter phenomenon are both medical students and medical residents (Legassie et al., 2008; Henning et al., 1998; Oriel et al., 2004; Villwock et al., 2016). Rosenstein et al. (2020) also identified a correlation between the imposter phenomenon and computer science students.

The imposter phenomenon can also be seen within the faculty of higher education institutions. There have been a number of studies that have investigated the prevalence of the imposter phenomenon in certain research institutions, private universities, and in community colleges (Brems, 1994; Dahlvig, 2013; Hutchins, 2015; Long et al., 2000). Hutchins (2015), states that there may be a concerning heightening of imposter phenomenon traits in higher education faculty members, that could be due to the 'publish or perish' ideals that are within the current academic culture. This culture includes vague targets, inconsistent support, and the high competitivity between researchers in relation to funding. For example, these ideas may hinder the ability of faculty to perform their job. Brems et al. (1994) found that lecturer's levels of the imposter phenomenon negatively affected how they encourage their students to participate in lectures, which could possibly negatively affect student's proficiency in that subject. Non-faculty staff of colleges have also been studied in relation to the imposter phenomenon (Crouch et al., 1991; Dahlvig, 2013; Long, et al., 2000), a specific subset of higher education staff that has been studied in relation to the imposter phenomenon are librarians (Clark et al., 2014; Faulkner, 2015; Gordon, 2003). Clark et al. (2014) explains how 12.5% of the academic librarians in their study have significantly high imposter scores.

As one of the main job descriptions of academic librarians is to encourage and help students this unsureness may deter them from studying and realising their potential.

The imposter phenomenon has a tendency to affect female populations in higher quantities than it affects male populations. A recent study of medical students found that 25% of male participants suffered from imposter phenomenon, which is in contrast to the 50% of female participants suffering from the imposter phenomenon (Villwock et al., 2016). Nimmo (2019) has stated that this gender difference could be a potential barrier for achieving gender equality in both academic and other professional settings. Chrousos & Mentis (2020) discuss how the imposter phenomenon's effect of a constant lack of self-confidence and the downplaying of one's accomplishments could be a factor that explains the higher drop-out rates of women from the predominantly male dominated fields of science, technology, engineering, and mathematics.

Previous research has also found that there is also a perceived gender bias within people suffering from anxiety. This gender bias is shown in the American National Comorbidity survey (Harvard Medical School, 2007), their results highlighted that there were double the amount of females suffering with anxiety in comparison to males. Budhwani et al. (2015) found that despite other factors that may encourage anxiety, such as the inclusion of an ethnic minority, females were still more likely than males to experience Generalised Anxiety Disorder within their lifetime.

There has been a link between anxiety, perfectionism, and self-consciousness, (Saboonchi & Lundh, 1997). Thompson et al. (2000) found that when faced with acute stress, imposters reported higher levels of anxiety than non-imposters. Alrayyes et al. (2020) also identified this link between anxiety and the imposter phenomenon. It is also prevalent in the literature that generalised anxiety is a symptom of the imposter phenomenon (Clance & Irnes,

1978). A correlation between those presenting with imposter phenomenon and people experiencing burnout has also been studied (Alrayyes et al., 2020; Legassie et al., 2008).

Clance (1985) proposed the idea that there was a high possibility that imposters will never possess the ability to view their accomplishments as valid. However, the popular opinion on the topic subsequently shifted and there are two main aspects to the interventions currently implemented to combat the imposter phenomenon. These aspects include both communication and education (Clance, 1985; Studdard, 2002; Mount & Tardanico, 2014).

A common idea among studies is the discussion of self-doubt and fraudulent thoughts in group sessions (Clance 1985; Clance et al., 1995; Jackson & Heath, 2014; Mount & Tardanico, 2014). Clance & Imes (1978) suggested that through hearing other imposter's testimonies, that this may lessen the effects of the imposter phenomenon. Clance et al. (1995) recommend group therapy situations where imposters can hear others' testimonies to illustrate that imposters are not isolated in their thoughts and that learning about other people experience similar self-doubt can have a positive effect. Harvey & Katz (1985) suggested there are benefits for imposters to list their fraudulent thoughts, learning to accept compliments and practicing standing up for themselves. Young (2011) suggests the "fake it till you make it" method to combat imposterism. It is also suggested that lecturers educated themselves on the topic of the imposter phenomenon while also imposing more in depth mentoring relationships with their students, to allow them to aid the overcoming of their students' negative imposter thoughts (Studdard, 2002).

Though there is no "gold standard" for testing the imposter phenomenon currently (Mak et al., 2019), although there are two frequently used tests. The first test to be developed for the imposter phenomenon was by Harvey (1982), the Harvey Impostor Scale. This test includes a 14 item scale that was developed for both graduates and undergraduate students. The Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale (see Appendix A) was then developed (Clance,

1985). The Clance Impostor Phenomenon Scale includes a 20 item scale that was developed to address the gaps in the research that the Harvey Impostor Scale had left, in relation to the participant holding a fear of evaluation and a feeling of lacking in capability. The Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale is currently the most commonly used measure for the imposter phenomenon (Mak et al., 2019). A frequently used measure of anxiety is the Beck Anxiety Inventory (Beck et al. 1998) (see Appendix B) which is a 21 item scale including a 4 point fixed Likert scale, to measure levels of anxiety within the participants.

In conclusion, there is significant evidence to suggest that there is a gender bias with female participants generally who scoring higher than their male counterparts in tests of the imposter phenomenon (Villwock et al., 2016). There is also evidence to suggest that there is a gender bias within anxiety, with females being more likely than males to score high in measures of anxiety (Budhwani et al., 2015; Harvard Medical School, 2007). These findings, in conjunction with (Chrousos & Mentis, 2020), who concluded that the high scores of these populations may lead to higher dropout rates in the fields of science, technology, engineering, and mathematics, leaves it reasonable to believe that there will be higher levels of imposter syndrome within these subsections of the student population, however the majority of studies performed on this topic in student populations are generally American. There is also a suggested link between a person's levels of anxiety and their levels of the imposter syndrome (Thompson et al., 2000; Alrayyes et al., 2020), this link may be moderated by gender, considering that there is a gender bias within both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety (Budhwani et al., 2015; Harvard Medical School, 2007; Villwock et al., 2016).

### **The Current Study**

Though the imposter phenomenon has been studied in depth in relation to the effect that it has on students (Kolligan & Sternberg, 1991; Chapman, 2015; Cozzarelli & Major, 1990) the majority of these studies have been performed in America, the present study will

investigate this relationship within students who were born in Ireland. The current study is based on the belief that there is a significant relationship between anxiety and the imposter syndrome (Thompson et al., 2000; Alrayyes et al., 2020), although there is a gap in the research with how Thompson et at (2000) only tested for anxiety caused by acute stress, instead of generalised anxiety. It is also to be believed that there is a bias towards gender (Villwock et al., 2016; Nimmo, 2019) within the imposter syndrome. These beliefs in conjunction with the studies that state that the imposter phenomenon has a negative effect on students in third level education (Kolligan & Sternberg, 1991; Chapman, 2015; Cozzarelli & Major, 1990), are the reasoning for the current study, which aims to identify the relationship between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety within a student population. There is reason to suggest that there is a gender bias with anxiety as well as the imposter phenomenon, Harvard Medical School, (2007) found that women were twice as likely as men to show signs of Generalised Anxiety Disorder. This shows that women are more likely than men to score higher on both imposter phenomenon tests and tests of anxiety (Budhwani et al., 2015; Villwock et al., 2016). These gender biases have influenced the research aims of the current study with the question as to whether gender may moderate between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety.

The main research aim of the present study is to identify the relationship between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety in a population of Irish students. The current study will also aim to investigate the gender biases that are included in both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety and how this bias effects the relationship between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety.

The first research question of the current study is: Is there a relationship between gender and imposter phenomenon and anxiety respectively? The corresponding hypothesis

for this research question is that female participants will score higher on both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety than male participants.

The secondary research question of the current study is: What is the relationship between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety in students? The corresponding hypothesis for this research question is that there will be a significant, positive correlation between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety.

The tertiary research question of the current study is: How does gender affect levels of the imposter phenomenon and anxiety? The corresponding hypothesis for this research question is that the relationship between imposter syndrome scores and anxiety scores is moderated by gender.

#### Methods

### **Participants**

The participants of this study were students studying an undergraduate or post graduate degree that were born in Ireland. Of the 80 participants; 24 were male (30%), 55 were female (68.8%), and 1 participant identified as Non-Binary (1.2%). To be included in the study, for ethical reasons the participants needed to be over the age of 18 (M= 24.21, SD = 8.32), born in Ireland, and currently studying an undergraduate or post graduate degree in Ireland. Participants were recruited online using a convenience sampling method via several social medias. Participants were required to assure that informed consent was given upon completion of the survey.

# Design

The present study has a quantitative, cross sectional design. Within the first hypothesis an independent samples design was used, in this model the independent variable was the participant's gender and the two dependent variables of the hypothesis were the participant's levels of anxiety on the Beck Anxiety Inventory (see Appendix B) and the participant's imposter phenomenon scores from the Clance Imposter Phenomenon scale (see Appendix A). Within the second hypothesis a correlation analysis was preformed between two dependent variables, imposter phenomenon scores from the Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale and levels of anxiety on the Beck Anxiety Indicator. The last hypothesis of the current study was investigated using a moderation analysis. Within this analysis the predictor variable was the participant's anxiety scores on the Beck Anxiety Indicator, the moderator variable in the analysis being the gender of the participants, and the outcome variable was the participant's imposter phenomenon scores from the Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale.

#### Measures

The survey that is used in the current study included several demographic questions and two different scales. The survey was compiled using Google Forms, an online survey platform.

**Demographics -** The participants were asked to answer several demographic questions including indicating their age, if they are over 18, their gender, whether they are currently enrolled in either a undergraduate or a postgraduate degree, and if they were born in Ireland (see Appendix D).

The Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale - The participants then completed The Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale (Mak et al., 2019) (see Appendix A), a questionnaire that measures the levels of the imposter phenomenon in participants, this questionnaire includes a 20 item scale that includes a 5 point Likert scale. According to The Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale, if a participant scores 40 or lower that they have "few imposter characteristics", with a score of 41 to 60 the participant has "moderate imposter phenomenon experiences", a score of 61 to 80 indicates "frequent imposter feelings", and finally if a participant scores higher than 80 that means that they "often have intense imposter phenomenon experiences". The Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale is the current most common measure used in studies on the imposter phenomenon (Mak et al., 2019). Within the current sample the Cronbach's Alpha was ( $\alpha$ = .93), which indicates a high level of reliability.

**Beck Anxiety Inventory** - In the current study, the participants were asked to fill out two questionnaires, the first of which was the Beck Anxiety Inventory (Beck et al. 1998) (see Appendix B) which is a 21 item scale including a 4 point fixed Likert scale, to measure levels of anxiety within the participants. In accordance with the Beck Anxiety Inventory, a score of 0 to 21 is deemed "low anxiety", a score of 22 to 35 is referred to as "moderate anxiety", and a score of 36 plus is "potentially concerning levels of anxiety" (Beck et al. 1998). Kabacoff et

al., (1997), found that the Beck Anxiety Inventory has good psychometric properties. Within the current sample the Cronbach's Alpha was ( $\alpha$ = .93) indicating a high level of reliability.

### **Procedure**

The data for the current study was collected using a Google Forms survey. The participants were approached online to fill out the online survey via various social medias. The nature of the study was presented to them in comprehensive detail in the participation leaflet (see Appendix C). The participants of the current study were informed before they entered and completed the survey that tampering from an outside source with the use of the internet in data collection is possible however not very likely. The survey within the current study will also not include the collection of names or defining features, other than the gender of participants, the age of the participants, the confirmation that a participant was born in Ireland, and the fact that the participant is a student that is currently enrolled in either an undergraduate degree or a postgraduate degree. It is also stated to the participants that they have the right to withdraw their survey at any point between the start and finishing the survey. The discussion of the topics of both general anxiety and the imposter phenomenon are stated before the online survey begins, as these two topics may be psychologically distressing, both respectively and when discussed together. Also, the participants are informed that once their survey is submitted, it is impossible for the participants of the study to un-submit and withdraw the information that they have disclosed.

The survey consists of demographic questions regarding the participant's gender, their nationality, whether they were currently an undergraduate or postgraduate student, and their age to ensure that they are over the age of 18. Then the participants filled out the Beck Anxiety Inventory (see Appendix B) which is a 21 item scale including a 4 point fixed Likert scale, the participants then completed The Clance Imposter Phenomenon scale (see Appendix A) which includes a 20 item scale that includes a 5 point Likert scale. The participants were

then asked if they wish to complete the survey when finished. The online survey takes 5-10 minutes to complete.

#### Results

# **Descriptive Statistics**

The sample consisted of 80 college students in Ireland, of the participants 24 were male (30%), 55 were female (68.8%), and 1 identified as non-binary (1.2%). The descriptive statistics for the continuous variables are shown in Table 1.

Table 1

Descriptive statistics for imposter phenomenon scores, anxiety scores and age

Variable	M [95% CI]	SD	Range	
Age	24.21 [22.36, 26.06]	8.32	18-53	
Imposter Phenomenon	23.29 [20.25, 26.32]	13.64	0-53	
Anxiety	72.96 [69.58, 76.35]	15.22	32-100	

## **Inferential Statistics**

Preliminary analysis that was preformed to indicate normality within the data set, were not normally distributed. Due to this non-parametric tests were performed where needed.

A non- parametric Mann Whitney U Test was conducted instead of an Independent Samples T-Test to compare levels of the imposter phenomenon between males and females. There was a medium effect size between males and females (r = .35). There was a significant difference in the imposter phenomenon levels of males (Md = 66.5, n = 24) and females (Md = 78, n = 55), U = 952.5, z = 3.12, p = .002. The results of this analysis indicate that females are likely to have higher scores than males in regard to their imposter phenomenon scores.

A subsequent non- parametric Mann Whitney U Test was conducted instead of an Independent Samples T-Test Mann Whitney U Test to compare the levels of anxiety between

males and females. There was a small effect size between males and females (r = .25). There was a significant difference in the anxiety levels of males (Md = 15, n = 24) and females (Md = 25, n = 55), U = 871, z = 2.25, p = .024. The results of this analysis indicate that females are likely to have higher scores than males in regard to their levels of anxiety.

The relationship between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety was investigated using a non- parametric Spearman's Rank Order correlation coefficient in place of a Pearson's Correlation Coefficient. There was a medium, positive correlation between the two variables (rs = .45, n = 80, p < .001). The results of this correlation analysis indicate that higher levels of the imposter phenomenon are associated with higher levels of anxiety.

A moderation analysis was then performed to determine whether the relationship between anxiety scores and imposter phenomenon scores were moderated by gender. Both gender (p = .021) and anxiety scores (p < .001) were shown to predict levels of the imposter phenomenon. Gender moderates the relationship between anxiety scores and imposter phenomenon scores (r = -.55, p = .024). There is a positive relationship between anxiety scores and the imposter phenomenon scores for both males (r = .82, p < .001) and females (r = .28, p = .040). The results of this moderation analysis indicate that male participants have greater relationship between higher levels of the imposter phenomenon and higher levels of anxiety.

A post hoc Spearman's rank order correlation was preformed to investigate the relationship between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety in males and females separately. There was a large, positive correlation between the two variables in males ( $r_s$  = .73, n = 24, p < .001). There was a medium, positive correlation between the two variables in females ( $r_s$  = .31, n = 55, p = .022). The results of this correlation indicate that within males there is a larger correlation between high levels of anxiety and high levels of imposter phenomenon than there is in females.

#### Discussion

The relationship with anxiety and the imposter phenomenon is well established in the literature (Alrayyes et al., 2020; Thompson et al., 2000). It is also evident through previous research that there is a significant gender bias within both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety respectively (Budhwani et al., 2015; Villwock et al., 2016). These relationships are important topics be discussed and rectified as they are prevalent in the student population, and thus may be contributing to the dropout rates of women in male dominated fields of study such as science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (Chrousos & Mentis, 2020). It has also been theorised that the imposter phenomenon has a negative effect on the performance of students (Kolligan & Sternberg, 1991; Chapman, 2015; Cozzarelli & Major, 1990). The main research question of the current study was to investigate the relationship between gender, the imposter phenomenon and anxiety within Irish students. Influenced by the prior research surrounding this topic, three hypotheses were formed to help define the research aims of the study.

The first hypothesis of the current study was that female participants would score higher than their male counterparts on both the imposter phenomenon scores and their anxiety scores. To calculate this hypothesis, two independent samples tests were performed. The results of these tests showed that females were significantly more likely to score higher than males on both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety, the imposter phenomenon having a medium effect size and anxiety having a small effect size. These results support the previous literature that stated that there is a gender bias within these two issues. Both the imposter syndrome and anxiety (Budhwani et al.,2015;Harvard Medical School, 2007; Villwock et al., 2016) are known to effect females at higher rates than males.

It was then hypothesised that there will be a positive correlation between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety in a student population. A correlation analysis was conducted to

explore the relationship between the participant's imposter phenomenon scores and anxiety scores. The results of the current study are in support of this hypothesis as they show that there is a significant positive correlation between imposter phenomenon scores and anxiety levels, these results indicate that with higher levels of the imposter phenomenon a person is likely to also experience higher levels of anxiety. These results are supported by the literature surrounding the topic. Anxiety is often seen as a symptom of the imposter phenomenon (Clance & Irnes, 1978), and the link between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety has been discovered and explored by different studies (Thompson et al., 2000; Alrayyes et al., 2020). However, as the current study was cross-sectional in nature, with the present dataset a causality cannot be inferred within this relationship.

The last hypothesis offered was that the relationship between imposter syndrome scores and anxiety scores would be moderated by the gender of the participants. A moderation analysis was performed to investigate this relationship. The results of this analysis explains how in both males and females that there is a positive significant relationship between higher levels of anxiety and higher levels of the imposter phenomenon, however it was also found that male participants had higher levels of significance for this relationship. To back up this hypothesis, a post hoc correlation was performed to investigate the relationship between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety in males and females separately. The results of this correlation shows that there is a larger more significant relationship between levels of anxiety and the imposter phenomenon in males. These findings are interesting as they show that even though females are more likely than males to face both anxiety and the imposter phenomenon, if a male has high levels of anxiety, they are more likely than females with high levels of anxiety to experience high levels of the imposter phenomenon and vice-versa. These results further expose the idea that there is a significant link between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety, however while it does not counteract the

findings that females generally score higher than men for both anxiety and the imposter phenomenon (Budhwani et al.,2015; Villwock et al., 2016), it raises an interesting point into the experience of males who have high levels of anxiety and how that may make them more perceptible to experiencing the imposter phenomenon and vice-versa.

The findings within the present study have implications for both future research and the future development of student assistance within colleges in Ireland. The results reinforce further the previous statements that both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety are prevalent in student populations, they also highlight interesting gender biases between scores on the Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale (see Appendix A) and levels of anxiety on the Beck Anxiety Indicator (see Appendix B).

# **Limitations and Strengths**

A major strength of the current study is that while the relationship between gender and the imposter phenomenon and anxiety have been studied respectively (Budhwani et al.,2015; Harvard Medical School, 2007; Villwock et al., 2016), there is no predominant research that investigates how gender may be moderator between the two. Another strength of the present study was how the measures that were used to calculate the imposter phenomenon and anxiety are the most commonly used scales for their topics (Beck et al., 1998; Clance, 1985; Mak et al., 2019). The majority of the research on the imposter phenomenon alone and in relation to its relationship with both gender and levels of anxiety, have generally been based in America with, to the researcher's knowledge, no studies performed on the topic specifically within an Irish population. Though these factors strengthen the impact of the present study, there are a number of limitations that are to be considered. The first limitation of the current study is that as it is a cross-sectional design no causality can be inferred. In further research it may be needed to examine the relationship between anxiety levels and the imposter phenomenon within a longitudinal research setting.

As the current study was preformed during the global pandemic, this had the effect of reducing the number of participants that could be reached due to the inability to approach possible participants in person. There was also a high discrepancy between males and females with a higher percentage of females performing the survey, further research on the gender bias should employ a database of half males and half females.

### **Implications**

The results of the current study implicate many things for further research and for the future methods employed by Irish college institutions in support of students. Though the majority of imposter phenomenon studies are performed in America, specifically those that investigate its appearance in student populations, it is shown through the results of the current study that within a population of Irish students, both male and female participants average at frequently experiencing feelings of the imposter phenomenon (see Appendix A). These results express the urgency to which change is needed within Irish colleges to help combat these feelings of imposterism in students. It has been stated that the main belief of researchers is that the only way to combat these feelings of the imposter phenomenon is to educate the students and the faculty on the matter (Clance, 1985; Studdard, 2002; Mount & Tardanico, 2014). This may be done using a group session with a class, as suggested by (Clance 1985; Clance et al., 1995; Jackson & Heath, 2014; Mount & Tardanico, 2014) this group session can help students suffering from the imposter phenomenon by hearing other's testimonies to help convince them that they are not alone in these beliefs of fraudulence, generalized anxiety, depressive feelings, lacking in self-confidence, and frustration in relation to not being able to meet self-imposed standards. This can also be said for the levels of anxiety that were shown in the results, specifically female students from the current study experience on average moderate anxiety, despite being in contrast to the male's average of low anxiety according to the Beck Anxiety Indicator (see Appendix B). These results show that there

should be more efforts to curb the spread of anxiety in colleges in Ireland, with more access to mental health services. The relationship between anxiety and the imposter phenomenon has also, to the researcher's knowledge, not been investigated in an Irish student population. As the results indicate that there is a positive relationship between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety, it is evident that it is important for Irish colleges to combat these issues in tandem with each other. Further research into whether causality can be inferred from this relationship is needed to calculate whether one is a symptom of the other. The results of the last hypothesis implicate multiple issues for further consideration, firstly this moderation between high levels of the imposter phenomenon and high levels of anxiety in males needs further study to replicate these results, as high levels of both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety are usually biased towards females (Budhwani et al., 2015; Harvard Medical School, 2007; Villwock et al., 2016). There is also consideration to be given to the types and levels of student supports that are implemented in third level institutions in regard to the male students that experience either high levels of anxiety or high levels of the imposter phenomenon as they are more likely to be grouped together. This is important considering the gender bias towards females experiencing higher levels than men of both the imposter phenomenon and also anxiety which may encourage colleges to overlook their male students that are suffering from these conditions.

### **Conclusion**

The current study demonstrates how there is a considerable relationship between the imposter phenomenon and levels of anxiety. The results of the present study also show that there is a need to conduct further research in this area that considers the prevalence of the imposter phenomenon and anxiety within Irish college students. The results of the current study are concurrent with past research in regard to the gender biases that are prevalent within both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety, specifically in Irish students. The results

also support the assumption made within previous literature that there is a positive relationship between high levels of the imposter phenomenon and high levels of anxiety. These results emphasise the importance of education on both the imposter phenomenon and anxiety in tandem with each other within Irish colleges. Lastly, the current study also found that male participants experienced a greater correlation between high levels of anxiety and high levels of the imposter phenomenon. This correlation highlights a possible gap in the literature as generally females are more likely than males to experience both anxiety and the imposter phenomenon, respectively. This is an important issue that should be studied more in depth as to how males with high levels of anxiety are more likely than females to have high levels of the imposter phenomenon and how this may affect the personal experiences of males with either anxiety or the imposter phenomenon.

#### References

Alrayyes, S., Dar, U., Alrayes, M., Alghutayghit, A., & Alrayyes, N. (2020). Burnout and imposter syndrome among Saudi young adults. The strings in the puppet show of psychological morbidity. Saudi Medical Journal, 41(2), 189–194. doi:10.15537/smj.2020.2.24841

Beck, A. T., Epstein, N., Brown, G., & Steer, R. A. (1988). An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: Psychometric properties. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 56(6), 893–897. doi:10.1037/0022-006x.56.6.893

Brems, C., Baldwin, M. R., Davis, L., & Namyniuk, L. (1994). The imposter syndrome as related to teaching evaluations and advising relationships of university faculty members. The Journal of Higher Education, 65(2), 183-193

Budhwani, H., Hearld, K. R., & Chavez-Yenter, D. (2015). Generalized Anxiety Disorder in racial and ethnic minorities: A case of nativity and contextual factors. Journal of Affective Disorders, 175, 275–280. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.035

Chapman, A. (2015). Using the assessment process to overcome Imposter Syndrome in mature students. Journal of Further and Higher Education, 41(2), 112–119.

doi:10.1080/0309877x.2015.1062851

Chrousos, G. P., & Mentis, A.-F. (2020). Imposter syndrome threatens diversity. Science, 367(6479), 749.2–750. doi:10.1126/science.aba8039

Clance, P. R. (1985). Clance IP Scale. The Impostor Phenomenon: When success makes you Feel like a fake, 20-2.

Clance, P. R., & Imes, S. A. (1978). The imposter phenomenon in high achieving women: Dynamics and therapeutic intervention. Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice, 15(3), 241–247. doi:10.1037/h0086006

Clark, M., Vardeman, K., & Barba, S., (2014). Perceived inadequacy: A study of imposter phenomenon among college and research librarians. College & Research Libraries. 75(3) 255-271.

Cokley, K., Smith, L., Bernard, D., Hurst, A., Jackson, S., Stone, S., ... Roberts, D. (2017). Impostor feelings as a moderator and mediator of the relationship between perceived discrimination and mental health among racial/ethnic minority college students. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 64(2), 141–154. doi:10.1037/cou0000198

Cozzarelli, C., & Major, B. (1990). Exploring the Validity of the Impostor Phenomenon. Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 9(4), 401–417. doi:10.1521/jscp.1990.9.4.401

Crouch, J., Powel, M., Grant, C., Posner-Cahill, C., & Rose, A. (1991). Imposter phenomenon and psychological type among banking and higher education professionals. Journal of Psychology Type, 20(1), 34-42

Dahlvig, J. E. (2013). A narrative study of women leading within the Council for Christian Colleges & Universities. Christian Higher Education, 12(1-2), 93-109.

Faulkner, A. E. (2015). Reflections on the impostor phenomenon as a newly qualified academic librarian. New Review of Academic Librarianship, 21(3), 265-268. doi:10.1080/13614533.2015.1070185

Gordon, R. S. (2003). Overcoming the systems librarian imposter syndrome, LIBRES: Library and Information Science Research Electronic Journal, 13(2).

Harvard Medical School (2007) National Comorbidity Survey (NCS). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hcp.med.harvard.edu/ncs/index.php">https://www.hcp.med.harvard.edu/ncs/index.php</a>.

Harvey, J. C. (1982). The impostor phenomenon and achievement: A failure to internalize success.

Harvey, J. C., & Katz, C. (1985). If I'm so successful, why do I feel like a fake?: The impostor phenomenon. St. Martin's Press.

Henning, K., Ey, S., & Shaw, D. (1998). Perfectionism, the impostor phenomenon and psychological adjustment in medical, dental, nursing and pharmacy students. Medical Education, 32(5), 456–464. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2923.1998.00234.x

Hutchins, H. M. (2015). Outing the imposter: A study exploring imposter phenomenon among higher education faculty. New Horizons in Adult Education and Human Resource Development, 27(2), 3-12.

Jackson, D., & Heath, T. (2014). An antidote to impostor syndrome. XRDS:

Crossroads, The ACM Magazine for Students, 21(2), 12-13. doi: 10.1145/2685027

Johnson, R. (1993). Clinical Issues in the Use of the DSM-III-R with African

American Children: A Diagnostic Paradigm. Journal Of Black Psychology, 19(4), 447-460.

<a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/00957984930194005">https://doi.org/10.1177/00957984930194005</a>

Kabacoff, R. I., Segal, D. L., Hersen, M., & Van Hasselt, V. B. (1997). Psychometric properties and diagnostic utility of the Beck Anxiety Inventory and the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory with older adult psychiatric outpatients. Journal of anxiety disorders, 11(1), 33-47.

Kolligian Jr, J., & Sternberg, R. J. (1991). Perceived Fraudulence in Young Adults: Is There an 'Imposter Syndrome'? Journal of Personality Assessment, 56(2), 308-326. doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa5602\_10

Langford, J., & Clance, P. R. (1993). The imposter phenomenon: Recent research findings regarding dynamics, personality and family patterns and their implications for treatment. Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 30(3), 495–501. doi:10.1037/0033-3204.30.3.495

Legassie, J., Zibrowski, E. M., & Goldszmidt, M. A. (2008). Measuring Resident Well-Being: Impostorism and Burnout Syndrome in Residency. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 23(7), 1090–1094. doi:10.1007/s11606-008-0536-x

Long, M. L., Jenkins, G. R., & Bracken, S. (2000). Imposters in the sacred grove: Working class women in the academe. The Qualitative Report, 5(3), 1-15.

Mak, K. K., Kleitman, S., & Abbott, M. J. (2019). Impostor phenomenon measurement scales: A systematic review. Frontiers in psychology, 10.

Mount, P. & Tardanico, S. (2014). Beating the impostor syndrome. Greensboro, NC: The Center for Creative Leadership

Neal, A., & Turner, S. (1991). Anxiety disorders research with African Americans: Current status. Psychological Bulletin, 109(3), 400-410. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.109.3.400

Nimmo, S. (2019). Imposter syndrome. Occupational Medicine, 69(5), 318–318. doi:10.1093/occmed/kqz052

Oriel, K., Plane, M. B., & Mundt, M. (2004). Family medicine residents and the impostor phenomenon. FAMILY MEDICINE-KANSAS CITY-, 36(4), 248-252.

Rosenstein, A., Raghu, A., & Porter, L. (2020). Identifying the Prevalence of the Impostor Phenomenon Among Computer Science Students. Proceedings of the 51st ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education. doi:10.1145/3328778.3366815

Saboonchi, F., & Lundh, L.-G. (1997). Perfectionism, self-consciousness and anxiety.

Personality and Individual Differences, 22(6), 921-928. doi:10.1016/s0191-8869(96)00274-7

Sakulku, J. & Alexander, J. (2011). The imposter phenomenon. International Journal of Behavioral Science, 6(1), 73-92.

Studdard, S. S. (2002). Adult Women Students in the Academy: Impostors or Members?. The Journal of Continuing Higher Education, 50(3), 24-37.

Thompson, T., Foreman, P., & Martin, F. (2000). Impostor fears and perfectionistic concern over mistakes. Personality and Individual Differences, 29(4), 629–647. doi:10.1016/s0191-8869(99)00218-4

Vergauwe, J., Wille, B., Feys, M., DeFruyt, F., & Anseel, F. (2014). Fear of being exposed: The traitrelatedness of the Impostor Phenomenon and its relevance in the work context. Journal of Business Psychology, DOI 10.1007/s10869-014-9382-5, Accessed August 28, 2015.

Villwock, J. A., Sobin, L. B., Koester, L. A., & Harris, T. M. (2016). Impostor syndrome and burnout among American medical students: a pilot study. International journal of medical education, 7, 364. doi:10.5116/ijme.5801.eac4

Young, V. (2011). The secret thoughts of successful women. New York, NY: Crown Business.

# **Appendices**

# Appendix A

# The Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale

		Clance IP	Scale		
		the number that best indica ser than dwelling on each sta			
1. I have often succ	eeded on a test or	task even though I was af	raid that I would	i not do well before	I undertook the task.
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
2. I can give the im	pression that I'm	more competent than I re	ally am.		
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
3. I avoid evaluatio	ns if possible and	have a dread of others eva	aluating me.		
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
4. When people pro me in the future.	ise me for someth	ning I've accomplished, I'r	n afraid I won't	be able to live up to	their expectations of
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
5. I sometimes thin place at the right tir		resent position or gained a ght people.	my present succe	ss because I happe	ned to be in the right
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
6. I'm afraid people	e important to me	may find out that I'm no	t as capable as th	ey think I am.	
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
7. I tend to remember the incidents in which I have not done my best more than those times I have done my best.					
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
8. I rarely do a proj	ject or task as we	ll as I'd like to do it.			
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
9. Sometimes I feel	or believe that m	y success in my life or in n	ıy job has been t	he result of some k	ind of error.
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
10. It's hard for me to accept compliments or praise about my intelligence or accomplishments.					
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
Note, From The Impostor Ph Rose Clance, Ph.D., ABPP. Re www.paulineroseclance.com	printed by permission. I	ns Makes You Feel Like A Fake (pp. 20 To not reproduce without permission to	-22), by P.R. Clance, 198 from Pauline Rose Clance	5, Toronto: Bantam Books. e, <u>drpaulinerose@comcast.</u>	Copyright 1985 by Pauline net,

11. At times, 1 feet	my success has bee	en due to some kind of luc	к.		
l (not at all true)	2 (rarely)	3 (sometimes)	4 (often)	5 (very true)	
12. I'm disappointe	ed at times in my p	resent accomplishments	and think I should	d have accomplished	d much more.
l (not at all true)	2 (rarely)	3 (sometimes)	4 (often)	5 (very true)	
13. Sometimes I'm	afraid others will	discover how much know	ledge or ability I	really lack.	
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
14. I'm often afraic attempt.	d that I may fail at	a new assignment or und	ertaking even the	ough I generally do	well at what I
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
15. When I've succ repeating that succ		g and received recognition	n for my accompl	ishments, I have do	ubts that I can keep
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
16. If I receive a gr of what I've done.	reat deal of praise	and recognition for somet	hing I've accomp	lished, I tend to dis	count the importance
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
17. I often compare	e my ability to tho	se around me and think th	ney may be more	intelligent than I an	n.
l (not at all true)	2 (rarely)	3 (sometimes)	4 (often)	5 (very true)	
			(online)		
18. I often worry a confidence that I w		g with a project or exami	nation, even thou	gh others around n	e have considerable
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
<ol><li>If I'm going to accomplished fact.</li></ol>	receive a promotio	on or gain recognition of s	ome kind, I hesit	ate to tell others un	fil it is an
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
20. I feel bad and d	liscouraged if I'm	not "the best" or at least '	'very special" in	situations that invol	ve achievement.
1	2	3	4	5	
(not at all true)	(rarely)	(sometimes)	(often)	(very true)	
Note. From The Impostor P. Rose Clance, Ph.D., ABPP. R www.paulineroseclance.com	leprinted by permission. D	is Makes You Feel Like A Fake (pp. 20 o not reproduce without permission	-22), by P.R. Clance, 1989 from Pauline Rose Clance	5, Toronto: Bantam Books. ( drpaulinerose@comcast.n	Copyright 1985 by Pauline et.
awa patiner dacance to	-				

# Appendix B

# The Beck Anxiety Inventory

Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI)
Below is a list of common symptoms of anxiety. Please carefully read each item in the list. Indicate how much you have been bothered by that symptom during the past month, including today, by circling the number in the corresponding space in the column next to each symptom.

	Not at all	Mildly, but it didn't bother me much	Moderately – it wasn't pleasant at times	Severely – it bothered me a lot
Numbness or tingling	0	1	2	3
Feeling hot	0	1	2	3
Wobbliness in legs	0	1	2	3
Unable to relax	0	1	2	3
Fear of worst happening	0	1	2	3
Dizzy or lightheaded	0	1	2	3
Heart pounding / racing	0	1	2	3
Unsteady	0	1	2	3
Terrified or afraid	0	1	2	3
Nervous	0	1	2	3
Feeling of choking	0	1	2	3
Hands trembling	0	1	2	3
Shaky / unsteady	0	1	2	3
Fear of losing control	0	1	2	3
Difficulty in breathing	0	1	2	3
Fear of dying	0	1	2	3
Scared	0	1	2	3
Indigestion	0	1	2	3
Faint / lightheaded	0	1	2	3
Face flushed	0	1	2	3
Hot / cold sweats	0	1	2	3

### **Appendix C**

# **Participant Information Leaflet**

### The Imposter Phenomenon and Its Relationship With Anxiety In Students

You are being invited to take part in a research study on the effects of the imposter syndrome and its relation to anxiety. Before deciding whether to take part, please take the time to read this document, which explains why the research is being done and what it involves. Please do not hesitate to contact me at my email address (shown below), if you have any questions about the information.

# What is this study about?

I am a final year student in the BA in Psychology programme at National College of Ireland. As part of our degree we must carry out an independent research project. The aim of my research project is to identify the relationship between the imposter phenomenon and anxiety in a student population, the current study will also investigate the gender bias included in the imposter phenomenon. The imposter phenomenon is the inability to perceive personal successes as valid despite ability and praise from others, the phenomenon causes people to feel like they are "frauds" and that they will be "found out".

### What will taking part in the study involve?

If you decide to take part in this research, you will be asked to complete an online questionnaire with 46 questions on anxiety, the imposter phenomenon and a few questions on your demographics. The survey will only take around 5 minutes to complete.

# Who can take part?

You can take part in this study if you are aged over 18 and are enrolled in a undergraduate or post graduate college course

## Do I have to take part?

This survey is completely voluntary and you are perfectly within your rights to refuse to complete it, and you can withdraw at any time from start to finish. One you have submitted your survey, it will not be possible to withdraw your data from the study, however this is because the questionnaire is completely anonymous and each individual responses cannot be identified.

# What are the possible risks and benefits of taking part?

There are no direct benefits to you for taking part in this research. However, the information gathered will contribute to research into how the student population is affected by the imposter phenomenon and how the phenomenon relates to anxiety.

There is a small risk that some of the questions contained within this survey may cause minor distress for some participants with the discussion of anxiety and the imposter phenomenon., you are free to exit the survey at any point in between start to finish. Contact information for relevant support services are also stated at the start and end of the survey.

# Will taking part be confidential and what will happen to my data?

The survey is completely anonymous, it is not possible to identify a participant based on their responses to the questionnaire. Each response collected for the study will be treated in the strictest confidence. Responses to the questionnaire will be stored securely in a password protected/encrypted file on my computer. Only me and my supervisor will have access to the data. The data will be retained for 5 years in accordance with the NCI data retention policy.

Gender:

THE IVII OSTER THE VOICE NOT AND ANAIETT
What will happen to the results of the study?
The results of the study will only be submitted to my final, which will be submitted to
National College of Ireland.
Who should you contact for further information?
You can contact me by email at <u>X18433452@student.ncirl.ie</u> or my supervisor at their email
if further information is needed.
Consent
I have read and understood the Information Leaflet for the current study.
Yes  No
I understand that I am free to withdraw from the study at any time before submitting
my survey without giving a reason.
Yes
I agree to take part in the study.
Yes No D
Appendix D
Demographic Questions
Please answer the following demographic questions before beginning the questionnaire.
Age:

Are you currently enrolled in an undergraduate/ postgraduate degree:			
Yes	No		
Please indicate if you were born in Ireland:			
Yes 🗆	No		

# Appendix E

# Proof of data and SPSS output



